

UNIVERSIDAD TÉCNICA PARTICULAR DE LOJA

La Universidad Católica de Loja

ÁREA SOCIO HUMANÍSTICA

TÍTULO DE LICENCIADO EN CIENCIAS DE LA EDUCACIÓN MENCIÓN INGLÉS

Ecuadorian high school teachers' perceptions on ICT use in their EFL classes

TRABAJO DE TITULACIÓN

AUTOR: López Infante, Ángela Cristina

DIRECTOR: Ulehlova, Eva, Mgtr

CENTRO UNIVERSITARIO AMBATO

2017



Esta versión digital, ha sido acreditada bajo la licencia Creative Commons 4.0, CC BY-NY-SA: Reconocimiento-No comercial-Compartir igual; la cual permite copiar, distribuir y comunicar públicamente la obra, mientras se reconozca la autoría original, no se utilice con fines comerciales y se permiten obras derivadas, siempre que mantenga la misma licencia al ser divulgada. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/deed.es

APROBACIÓN DE LA DIRECTORA DEL TRABAJO DE TITULACIÓN

Magister.
Eva Ulehlova
DOCENTE DE LA TITULACIÓN
De mi consideración:
El presente trabajo de titulación: Ecuadorian high school teachers" perceptions on ICT use
in their EFL classes realizado por López Infante Ángela Cristina ha sido orientado y
revisado durante su ejecución, por lo tanto se aprueba la presentación del mismo.
Loja, septiembre del 2017
£/
f)
Mgtr. Eva Ulehlova

DECLARACIÓN DE AUTORÍA Y CESIÓN DE DERECHOS

"Yo López Infante Ángela Cristina declaro ser autora del presente trabajo de

titulación Ecuadorian high school teachers" perceptions on ICT use in their EFL

classes, de la Titulación de Ciencias de la Educación mención Ingles, siendo Eva

Ulehlova directora del presente trabajo; y eximo expresadamente a la Universidad

Técnica Particular de Loja y a sus representantes legales de posibles reclamos o

acciones legales. Además certifico que las ideas, conceptos, procedimientos, y

resultados vertidos en el presente trabajo investigativo, son de mi exclusiva

responsabilidad.

Adicionalmente, declaro conocer y aceptar la disposición del Art. 88 del Estatuto

Orgánico de la Universidad Técnica Particular de Loja que en su parte pertinente

textualmente dice: "Forman parte del patrimonio de la Universidad la propiedad

intelectual de investigaciones, trabajos científicos o técnicos y tesis de grado que se

realicen a través, o con el apoyo financiero, académico o institucional (operativo) de

la Universidad".

f.....

Autor: López Infante Ángela Cristina

Cédula: 1804819298

iii

DEDICATION

I dedicate my thesis work to several people who were an important support for its development.

First, my thanks belong to God for having allowed me to reach this point and achieve this great goal in my life, to bless me with health, intelligence, kindness.

I devote my thesis to my father who is an example of love and perseverance and who has trusted me and for supporting me and always giving me appreciated advice to continue with this great project of my life.

To my mother who has always helped me unconditionally. Her advice, her love, and her constant motivation have allowed me to be a good person. I thank my brother Kevin for giving me his love and hand.

Finally, I would also like to express my thanks to my teachers: Dr. Ana Lucía Quiñónez for her useful guide in order to present this thesis and Mgtr. Eva Ulehlova for her advice in the preparation of this work.

Cristina

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This thesis is the result of the effort and perseverance of those who were part of this long path of professional training.

For this reason, I would especially like to thank Dr. Ana Lucia Quiñones and Mgtr. Eva Ulehlova who were a key part in the preparation and guidance of this work.

Also, I would like to appreaciate my parents who during the course of my life have supported and motivated my academic training, believing in me at all times.

Thank you for all patience of my teachers. Finally, an eternal thanks to this prestigious university, which opens its doors to young people like us, preparing us for a competitive future and forming us as good professionals.

Cristina

CONTENTS

COVER	i
APROBACIÓN DEL DIRECTOR DEL TRABAJO DE FIN DE	
TITULACIÓN	ii
DECLARACIÓN DE AUTORÍA Y CESIÓN DE DERECHOS	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	V
CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	vii
ABSTRACT	1
RESUMEN	2
INTRODUCTION	3
CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW	5
1.1. ICT use in EFL Teaching	6
1.1.1. Importance	7
1.1.2. Advantages	8
1.1.3. Disadvantages	9
1.2. Teachers and ICT use	9
1.2.1. Teachers" role	9
1.2.2. Teachers" competences	10
1.2.3. Teachers" gender	11
1.3. Teachers" characteristics regarding ICT use	12
1.3.1. Psychological characteristics	12
1.3.2. Educational characteristics	13
1.3.3. Professional characteristics	14

	1.3.4.	Personal characteristics	14	
CHAI	PTER II	. METHOD	19	
	2.1.	Setting and Participants	20	
	2.2.	Procedures	20	
CHAPTER III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION				
	3.1.	Description, Analysis, and Interpretation of Results	24	
	Co	onclusions	43	
	Re	ecommendations	44	
References				
	Ar	nnexes	50	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Teachers" characteristics considered by EFL teachers as barriers to use ICT in	
their classroom	25
Table 2: Teachers" characteristics that influence the most on teachers to use ICT in their	
classroom	29
Table 3: Teachers" perceptions by gender in relations to the aspects that they consider as	
barriers to use ICT their classroom	33
Table 4: Teachers" perceptions by gender in relation to the factors that they consider the	
most influential to use ICT in their classroom	38

ABSTRACT

This research is about the perception of the Ecuadorian high school teachers on the use of

Information and Communication Technology in their EFL classes. The purpose of this study was

to research and analyze the way teachers think about the use of ICT when teaching English as

a foreign language.

The research took place in the city of Ambato with a sample of twenty English teachers among

women and men, ten from private high schools and ten from public ones. The quantitative and

qualitative methods were used as well as techniques such as surveys and interviews to find out

what teachers think about ICT, the problems they face when using it and what they expect from

it.

The results show that male teachers are more interested in using ICT in their classes. On the

other hand, female teachers" attitude toward computers and the Internet is generally not so

good. It was also found that the perception of the teachers on the use of ICT has changed a little

with the years of experience and obtained knowledge.

Key words: ICT, technology, teachers, perception, EFL, high schools

1

RESUMEN

La presente estudio trata sobre La Percepción que tienen los Profesores de los Colegios sobre

el Uso de la Tecnología Comunicación e Información en sus clases de Inglés como Lengua

Extranjera (EFL). El objetivo de este estudio fue investigar y analizar la forma de pensar de los

docentes en cuanto al empleo de las TICs en la enseñanza del Inglés. La investigación se llevó

a cabo en la ciudad de Ambato con una muestra de veinte profesores entre hombres y mujeres,

diez de colegios particulares y diez de colegios públicos. Los métodos usados fueron

cualitativos y cuantitativos a través de las técnicas de la encuesta y la entrevista para descubrir

que los profesores piensan sobre las TICs, los problemas que ellos enfrentan y sus

expectativas.

Los resultados evidenciaron que los profesores de género masculino están más interesados en

usar las TICs en sus clases. Por otra parte, la actitud de las profesoras hacia las computadoras

y el Internet no es muy buena. También fue encontrado que las percepciones de los profesores

en la aplicación de las TICS cambiaron con los años de experiencia y los conocimientos

obtenidos.

Palabras Claves: TICs, tecnología, profesores, percepción, EFL, colegios

2

INTRODUCTION

Nowadays, it is common to see almost everybody using any technological gadgets inside and outside the classrooms. They use them to look for information, communicate with others, study on line, do business and have fun. Therefore, there is a high need to keep up with the latest trends about technology. Teachers are the ones who introduce new knowledge to students in the Ecuadorian educational system. Thus, it is relevant to know what is their perception on Information and Communications Technology (ICT) when teaching English as a foreign language, This is definitely the mean that people will use to do all the things mentioned above since it is considered as the international language all around the world.

The aim of this research is to study and analyze the EFL teachers" ICT use by responding the following questions: Which aspects related to teachers" characteristics are considered by most of the EFL teachers as barriers to use ICT in their classroom?, Which factors regarding to teacher"s characteristics do influence the most on teachers to use ICT in their classroom?, and How is ICT use perceived by EFL teachers in relation to their gender?

There have been many previous studies done related to this topic, for that reason it is important to mention some of them:

The study, which was published by Al-Munawwarah (2014) was carried out to research the teachers" view of using ICT inside EFL teaching and the learning process. According to the results of the study, it shows that the utilization of ICT in English teaching and learning process has a lot of advantages. This will be analyzed and described later in this research. In conclusion, the study participants were positive about the usage of ICT in their classrooms and really recommended it.

In addition, Tengku (2015) an English teacher, exposed another vision about the present study. Her objective was to identify EFL teachers" perceptions on the use of ICT in their teaching. Thus, the results demonstrated that 31 professors were motivated to deal with ICT. Although it

was not easy for them to put the technology into practice in their lessons, they used it. However, they did not obstruct their application in the classroom. The teachers needed irrefutably a lot of effort, support and training to use ICT.

For this research Riasati (2012) also contributes with his relevant study in Iran. His objective was to analyze the perceptions of EFL teachers about the use of technology in their classes in Iranian Language Institutes. In conclusion, the quantitative information exposed that teachers perceptions about the application of ICT can be considered as a helping or obstructing factor, contributing to more self-confidence or as a dominating obstacle of technology use. However, the majority of teachers felt highly motivated when using technology because of increased awareness and interest. They established the use of the ICT as an unquestionable part of teaching.

Based on these studies, it could be said, that the people who will benefit from this research will be the English teachers of different public and private high schools who were part of this study as well as their institutions. Also, researchers and all people who may be interested in learning this topic might benefit from it. This research will show what is really happening in our educational system regarding the use of ICT. It may be also very useful for future studies due to the importance of the topic and its results.

CHAPTER I. LITERATURE REVIEW

Coll (2011) refers the information communication technologies (ICT) are a relevant tool that has been implemented by some teachers in the classroom. It differs from traditional methods used in regular classes including software and applications to store and transmit any information. This important tool has promoted a change in the way teachers think about the use of technology in the teaching-learning process of any subject, especially in acquiring a foreign language. The implementation of the ICT allows a motivating environment in which teacher and the students benefit with the enormous knowledge that anyone can get through the use of this tool. The interaction and the development of different skills such as the communicational skill will increase the teachers" desire to continue learning about how to exert the ICT in the best way.

Thus, this research includes the following topics: ICT use in EFL teaching, teachers and ICT use and teachers characteristics regarding ICT use.

Additionally, some previous studies about high school teachers" perceptions on ICT use in their EFL classes will be analyzed. This research will provide some ideas to the project about the methodologies that were used, the teachers" participation and reactions, the positive and negative results based on surveys, and conclusions.

1.1. ICT use in EFL Teaching.

The ICT use in the EFL teaching is referred to the application of any of the following things: video chats, video conference, e-mails, forums, chats, any English software to learn and interact with this new language, etc.

According to Mahrooqi and Troudi (2014) the ICT is an important element when teaching. It can help to develop a good and comfortable manner of learning which will allow to reduce negative feelings and will cause the growth of the linguistic abilities of the students.

Gokhe (2013) says that ICT is the technology that contributes to generate better informative activities such as: the presentation, the storing, the processing or the gathering of data. The activities mainly include collaboration and communication.

Poole (2010), who has a lot of experience related to technology, says:

"ICT holds a central position within the curriculum because, as well as being a subject in its own right, the technology is a mean through which learning can be achieved" (p.1)

Based on this statement, it could be said that, in fact, technology is not only for people who like or study it, but also for anybody who wants to keep up with this changing world.

Equally important is what Du Toit (2015) mentions about the following topic:

"Information and communication technology (ICT) has the potential to transform teaching and learning processes. However, most countries face challenges, massive roll-outs of teacher training initiatives, and usage in the classroom. The lack of a comprehensive set of indicators can partly explain current challenges". (p.3)

The transformation, which Du Toit (2015) refers to, could be positive or negative depending on the teacher's attitude towards technology. Teachers must be predisposed to confront and overcome any barrier not only the ones which involve the use of ICT, but also the ones they might encounter in the teaching-learning process.

1.1.1. Importance.

The ICT have an important role in the academic innovation, and that is why Bañón (2012) says:

"ICT help to put into practice the premises of communicative approaches and more concretely of the teaching by means of tasks. They also promote the students collaborative work and provide a real and authentic context for the proposed activities". (p.131)

It is absolutely proved that when students have to solve a problem they will learn more effectively by following the instructions and working in a team. Their learning will be significant, communicative and constructive. They always will feel motivated when sharing ideas with others and using an attractive software. The teacher will be there in the classroom only to help and supervise their work.

The same author Bañón (2012) explains: "ICTs help the student's autonomy and self-knowledge" (p.133) This means that teachers expect to have autonomous and self-controled

students by using the ICT. They will also be able to evaluate their own progress. The classes will mainly be student-centered. Only if students get involved with their learning, they will be responsible for all that is related to their achievement.

Fernandez (2012) express another important aspect might be that the teachers" expertise could be a benefit in their professional development if they are able to apply their competences and their knowledge of the use of ICT to their everyday activities.

1.1.2. Advantages.

Facer and Owen (2012) mention that the use of ICT allows to have many positive aspects in the classroom while the teaching-learning process is developed. For instance:

- It provides an authentic language environment.
- Students are engaged and become autonomous learners.
- The lessons are not only teacher-centered.

In order to have a successful process in the acquisition of a foreign language, the teachers" knowledge, competence and attitude play an important role. Teachers have to integrate many methods, approaches and techniques with any technological tool to improve the way they teach and the way students learn.

Furthermore, Chin, Zhang and Zheng (2017) present relevant advantages when using ICT to improve the quality of the teaching-learning process of a foreign language. They mention the following:

- ICT makes it easier for the teacher to be more competent in their professional field.
- It fosters the interaction in the classroom due to the resources provided such as multimedia, interactive and collaborative e-books.
- It consents the development of the interpersonal -communicative skills and the selflearning.

- It creates a motivational environment which facilitates the interaction among the topics and the participants.

1.1.3. Disadvantages.

The use of ICT could also have disadvantages which can cause trouble in teachers" performance in the classroom.

Kryachkov et al. (2015) expresses:

"Excessive or uncontrolled use of ICT is fraught with a number of pitfalls, ranging from a highly negative impact on students health to information overload, major changes in the characteristics of attention and decreased capacity for analytical thinking" (p.13)

In other words, if people use technology inappropriately and without a competent guide; the objective of the teaching- learning process might not be achieved. It is also important to know that not all of the information people get by using these tools has been previously analyzed and studied, or may not be true. In addition, students, who do not follow the instructions and search for information on the Internet without any control, can contribute with failures in achieving the objectives of the lessons.

It is also important to take into account that students can also feel demotivated when they are not part of a learning community.

Moreover, the same author adds that one of the most important disadvantages is that teachers need more time in planning and understanding their activities in class when using ICT. It is also important to mention that not all teachers and all students have access to these technologies neither in school nor outside.

1.2. Teachers and ICT use.

1.2.1. Teachers' role

Hjalmarsson cites Fitzpatrick and Yunus (2014), where they say:

"The role of teachers is changing in the sense that for teachers to become guides, or facilitators of knowledge, they must also constantly be up to date on the latest research" (p.6)

The quote above invites teachers to reflect about the real role they must perform in the classroom. Besides that, it refers to the importance of being well informed and prepared to help their students to acquire new knowledge.

As well, Velasquez (2012) points out that teachers must perform many roles when using the ICT to achieve effective education, communication and learning:

- Teachers must be facilitators, the ones who guide the learning process.
- Teachers must be good communicators and also be interactive.
- Teachers must be regulatory people who guide the discussions organized in the classroom.
- Teachers must be evaluators while teaching with their established rules.
- Teachers must be the people who integrate all the elements that are referred to a class.
- Teachers must be collaborative with other colleagues when they need to help in the use of ICT.
- Teachers must be trainees because every day they can learn new things and get updated in the use of ICT matters.

1.2.2. Teachers' competences.

When talking about competences, the meaning must be very clear. Thus, to be competent includes adequacy, knowledge, qualification and capacity. In other words, it requires to have suitable or sufficient skills or experience for any specific activity.

Hine (2011) suggests that all teachers ought to be competent when solving and creating new things in class while using ITC. He emphasizes that teachers should have three important characteristics:

First, they should dispose of the capacity to help their students to develop their skills in the technological field. Second, they should have a high quality of knowledge about the technology in order to guide their pupils how to apply all they know to face and solve any problem. Third, teachers should be innovative to involve their students.

As well, Fernandez (2012) mentions that the key competence that foreign language teachers should possess the capacity to create and develop learning opportunities for all their students without discriminating anyone and adapting the curriculum to their needs.

Ehlers and Schneckenberg (2015) say that teachers should be able to determine the right moment to use the ITC in their teaching- learning process. He states the following relevant aspects:

- The teachers must dispose of knowledge and capacity to make essential decisions about using the right ICT,
- The teachers must dispose of competence to develop activities which involve the use of ICT to raise students" learning.

1.2.3. Teachers' gender.

First, the general idea of what gender is will be explained. Bravo (2010) states that the term gender marks the material as well as the perceptual association of women and men. The term is concerned about their relationship, the different roles between men and women in the society and division of responsibilities.

This leads to the ideas proposed by Woollard (2011) who says that in the past there were more male teachers who used the ICT. This is because they were more curious and well-prepared and also more interested in it. On the contrary, women did not use the ICT due to their deficient knowledge. Therefore, it made them less interested in using technology to avoid any problem in their classes.

Apart from this, Palacios cites Plou (2011) who explains that the opportunities related to the use of technology must be equal for men and women. The society must work on cultural changes where access to technology offer equal access for everybody.

Crawford (2013) expresses: "However, competency and high expectation for all are more important than the gender of the teacher" (p.62). This author emphasizes one of the most important aspects of education. The gender is not as relevant as the teachers" expertise and their ability to emit their knowledge or to have the capacity to obtain good results from their students.

1.3. Teachers' characteristics regarding ICT use.

1.3.1. Psychological characteristics.

It is important to know how the psychological characteristics of a teacher influence or affect the implementation of ICT. Also, it is necessary to identify what aspects are required to facilitate the integration of English as a Foreign Language.

Coll and Monereo (2011) recognize some important characteristics of teachers such as the capacity to value ICT in a positive way, the integration of teaching, the feedback about their knowledge about technology and finally, to understand everything that is related to the ICT based on the curriculum.

Taking another point of view into account, Unesco (2016) mentions that a teacher needs to have some special psychological characteristics for the use of ICT. For instance: the ability to create a friendly environment, the ability to distinguish a problem in the classroom, the ability to create good experiences.

Coll (2011) says that the ICT could overtake the function as a psychological tool which acts between the inter- and intra-psychological processes. The last-mentioned are closely related to the interactive pyramid: student, teacher and content, and should also be related to teaching and learning.

The analysis of the relation between teachers and students when using ICT can include communicative exchanges not related to the tasks or activities done in classes (for example expressing feelings, greetings and personal presentations).

1.3.2. Educational characteristics.

The educational characteristics are special because they are essential for teachers in the classroom.

Aguerrondo (2012) illustrates that while teachers are giving lessons, they will develop the ability to establish a pleasant learning environment, integrate the ICT, use new techniques, promote dynamic classes and increase the cooperative and collaborative interaction and team work. Besides, teachers should apply innovative methodology to improve the teaching-learning process stimulating students to acquire basic knowledge about ICT.

In addition to that, Severin (2013) points out:

"The role of teachers is fundamental because they are the first promoters of this new educational paradigm from the implementation of renewed educational practices." (p.35)

Teachers have an important role in the classroom. They are the guides, the models and sometimes the students" inspiration. Therefore, the way teachers give their lessons, organize activities and include the ICT will greatly influence students" attitude as well.

Coll (2011) mentions education is more than using high tech gadgets or softwares. It mainly refers to the way teachers and students think about the teaching- learning process and how teachers help students to acquire a new language or any other subject in a real environment. As well it refers to the manner how students are using what they have learned to survive in this demanding world.

1.3.3. Professional characteristics.

Every single person who has got a professional degree should have specific characteristics that differ from the individuals who have just experience in a certain field but they have not been certified to do a particular job.

The Centro Superior del Profesorado (2011) indicates some professional characteristics of teachers when they use the ICT.

- Teachers should have cognitive characteristics in order to acquire and apply the knowledge management related to any subject.
- Teachers should have the ability to look for, to treat, to value, to assimilate, to integrate and to use the information and knowledge. Thus, they should have the skill to reflect, investigate and create the last-mentioned.
- Teachers should be open minded to previous and new knowledge.

Burgos et al. (2013) refers that an innovative educational process with the use of ICT is required to be well prepared. This will help to:

- Improve the educational quality by using the ICT to enrich the teaching learning process.
- Use good techniques to guide the students" use of ICT as a tool to access their knowledge around the world.
- Transform schools into real learning centers.

The principals and teachers of any institutions have the possibility to develop their own professional characteristics based on their personal and individual interests. This will leave a mark on how successful the use of ICT will be in terms of education.

1.3.4. Personal characteristics.

The use of the ICT can help teachers to develop their own personal characteristics.

Therefore, Jimoyiannis (2012) shows that the principal characteristics of teachers are: self- confidence, sincerity and an open mindedness. This way, teachers might create a positive

and motivational environment for the use of ICT guiding the students to achieve their objectives when studying a foreign language.

Additionally, Tascón (2013) mentions that teachers must be active, reasonable and skillful. Also, they should have a positive attitude which influences the use of ICT and the teaching-learning flows.

In general, teachers should be respectful, should create a polite environment and be friendly to everyone. Students might feel that their teachers are concerned about their problems or even listen to non-important and common things. Other significant characteristics include: leadership, passion for teaching and learning, great education, deep knowledge, and an upright personality. Moreover, a teacher could have a lot of favorable personal qualities, but one of the most important aspects is that teachers are adequate communicators because this is the way they can transmit what they know and what they want to know from their students.

To support all the topics about the teachers" perceptions on ICT use in EFL classes analyzed before, it is essential to mention relevant previous studies. These will contribute to this research and also consolidate the knowledge acquired from this subject.

Hismanoglu (2012) indicates a new view in matters of this current work. He aimed to research the perceptions of prospective EFL teachers towards ICT implementation in EFL teaching. He used qualitative methods and instruments like surveys and interviews. The study was conducted with the participation of 85 prospective EFL teachers of distance program University in Turkey. As a result, the majority expressed negative attitudes towards ICT integration in their lessons. They reacted in that way due to their feeling of incompetence in that area. These future teachers see the ICT as a useful and good tool. But they do not want to use it because they do not feel well prepared for this. In conclusion, it is mentioned that prospective EFL teachers of distance program University need a training for the use of the ICT and eliminate the lack of exposure. They need to get familiar with technology and learn how to use it confidently and in a pleasant environment.

They also should be trained to integrate the use of ICT into their teaching process. Thus, when they begin working as teachers, future teachers with negative ICT perceptions cannot share their ICT abilities with their pupils and do not have the ability to motivate them to use this tool.

The study that was published by Al-Munawwara (2014) was carried out to research the teachers" view of using ICT inside EFL teaching and the learning process. To get representative data the writer used a descriptive qualitative method and instruments such as open-ended questionnaire and interviews. According to the results of the studies, it shows that the use of ICT in English teaching and learning process has three advantages. One of them says that the teacher has the option to offer some interesting and amusing activities during the class. The usage of ICT also supports the self-organized learning of the students and motivates them to learn more. Furthermore, the studies" results predict two trials which the teachers could be confronted with. These are time allocation and technical problems. Then, identifying the confrontations the writer considered how these challenges could be solved. To reduce the time allocation and to make the classes more effective a lot of the teachers used for example downloadable materials such as videos or a prepared PPP before entering the classroom. In conclusion, the study participants were thinking positively about the usage of ICT in English teaching and learning processes.

In addition, Tengku (2015) an English teacher, exposes another vision about the present study. Her purpose was to identify EFL teachers" perceptions on the use of ICT in their teaching. She used qualitative methods and instruments such as closed-ended questionnaires and interviews. In this study were involved 42 EFL teachers from two state-owned universities. Therefore, the results demonstrated that 31 professors had elevated motivation to manage ICT. For that reason, they believe that it is important to use these technologies. For instance, it creates a pleasant, fascinating and efficient learning since pupils assimilate means of extensive variety of themes, resources and instruments. In contrast, the rest of teachers expressed that the use of ICT is essential. But they reported barriers like the deficiency of training and support from their

work environment when they applied the ICT. Furthermore, this research has shown that the teachers are motivated to use ICT in language learning processes. Even though, they have several difficulties when putting the technology into practice. Nevertheless, they did not impede their application in the classroom. The teachers need undeniably ample effort, support and training to use ICT.

Riasati (2012) also contributes with his relevant research in Iran. His objective was to analyze the perceptions of EFL teachers about the use of technology in their classes in Iranian Language Institutes. He applied a quantitative method to obtain data through questionnaires and interviews. In his study participated 40 undergraduate and graduate EFL teachers. With this in mind, the findings show that teachers have positive attitudes in relation to the use of ICT. Also, the data demonstrate that the application of the technology occasioned more motivation and participation of the student in class. Apart from this, in the interview teachers reported that the use of technology in English Foreign Language teaching similarly develop communicative abilities. Other teachers revealed that there are problems like insufficient teacher preparation, practice, inadequate techniques and not enough time to plan the lessons when using the technology. In conclusion, the quantitative information exposes that teachers perceptions about application of ICT can be considered as a helping or obstructing factor, contributing to more self- confidence or a dominate obstacle of technology use. However, the majority of teachers have high motivation when using technology because of increased awareness and interest. They established the use of the ICT as an unquestionable part of teaching.

Equally, Mozafari and Wray (2013) presented an important study based on the current investigation. Their aim was to explore the perspectives of practicing EFL teachers in the integration of Information and Communication Technology into their teaching in Iranian high schools. They used qualitative methods and instruments in three consecutive stages like surveys, individual semi-structured interviews and observation. Thus, who collaborated within this study, were teachers of an Iranian high school. As a result of this study, it has been

specified that teachers usually expressed positive opinions about the incorporation of ICT. However, their implementations of technology in the classrooms were inadequate. As well, teacher expressed that use of ICT can augment students motivation and produce new knowledge. Besides, with the application of ICT, students and teachers can apply learning resources. For this reason, the study identifies several aspects when teachers used the ICT like accessibility of technological instruments. The possibilities beside other factors appear to be indispensable in improving or restraining learning prospects. Demands and opportunities to develop communication and accurate language competences could be reached thanks to technology and multimedia. As well, the communication independent on time and location between students and teachers is possible thanks to social networks, emails, blogs and Internet platforms.

Finally, Soto, Escobar and Báez (2011) introduced another study about the topic of this research. They proposed to study the effect of the application on the development of the listening skills, Intercultural Competence, and professional development through of use ICT. They used instruments such as surveys and interviews. Sixteen English teachers from several public schools in Bogotá participated in this study. Consequently, eight of the teachers said that they had joined informal or formal courses about the use of ICT. However, they indicated not to use these technologies during their lessons. Moreover, governmental institutions like the Ministry or Secretary of Education offered courses which did not comply the teachers" needs. Apart from this, some took courses of a lower, higher or very specialized level. In addition, if teachers have enough possibilities to contemplate their own learning process, they are more upfront to observe their teaching processes. In conclusion, the authors of the study propose that programs of professional development of language teachers should go on in order to enhance the teachers" competences of communication and use of ICT.

CHAPTER II.
METHOD

In this chapter, all the aspects that are related to this study will be described in detail: the setting, participants and the procedure.

2.1. Setting and Participants.

This research was done in the city of Ambato in two public and three private high schools. In the public institutions, there are a lot of English teachers since they have hundreds of students studying in the morning and in the afternoon shifts. In the private high schools there are less English teachers in comparison to the public ones because they are paid off and they do not have as many students as in the first ones.

Most of the teachers who were part of this study had more than 15 years of experience teaching English, but none or almost any experience using ICT. They were in their fifties. Only few of them were very young and had a lot of experience using ICT but just some years working as English teachers. They were in their late twenties. Ten teachers were selected from the public institution and ten from the private ones. Five of them were males and the other five were females. All the teachers who were taken into account for this research have a university degree.

2.2. Procedures.

The process to get all the information about this topic was not difficult. There were enough data to support the different concepts related to this study. Although there were many authors who talked about this research, none of them was Ecuadorian. Some relevant topics for this research were studied, analyzed and selected; such as: ICT use in EFL teaching (definition, importance, advantages / disadvantages (if any)), teachers and ICT use (teachers" role, teachers" competences, teachers" gender), teachers" characteristics regarding ICT use (psychological, educational, professional, and personal characteristics) and previous studies in relation to teachers" perceptions on ICT use in their EFL classes.

The approaches used for this research were the qualitative and quantitative ones. The techniques which were used were surveys and interviews. Also, the instruments were the teachers" questionnaires.

To accomplish with the field research, first the institutions were chosen, suitable schedules were established among the researcher and the teachers, the questionnaires were organized and applied.

The sample was integrated by 20 English teachers for the survey: 10 teachers (5 female and 5 male) from different Ecuadorian public high schools and 10 teachers (5 female and 5 male) from different Ecuadorian private high schools. Only six of them were interviewed and the dates were reorganized many times until obtaining all the information.

The data was tabulated in four tables which contained many statements based on the questions on which this research was established. The results were tabulated in a separated way. That means the ones obtained from the surveys and the ones gotten from the interviews were classified according to the answers in order to count them and get the corresponding percentages. The same process was done with the interviews.

For the description and analysis of the results from the instruments applied, it was necessary to contrast and compare the information among them so that there were no contradictions but agreement. In order to support this, it was necessary to mention some real and scientific references which permitted to show coherent comments and reasons about the research. One of the clues was to have constantly in mind the questions of the research.

The questions that were crucial to develop this research were the following: Which aspects related to teachers" characteristics are considered by most of the EFL teachers as barriers to use ICT in their classroom?, Which factor regarding to teachers" characteristics does influence the most on teachers to use ICT in their classroom?, and How is ICT use perceived by EFL teachers in relation to their gender? They played an important role not only when writing up the theoretical concepts but also when analyzing the results.

After doing the tabulation six conclusions and recommendations were written based on the analysis of the results obtained.

CHAPTER III. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Description, Analysis, and Interpretation of Results.

In this chapter, the description, analysis and interpretation of results are going to be presented.

In order to get the statistic information were selected ten male and ten female teachers from private and public high schools in the city of Ambato in total twenty teachers were asked to answer some questions about abilities, skills, competences or problems they have when using ICT.

The conclusions and recommended presented in this chapter demonstrate that all this data will help the researcher to know about the teacher's reality, their feelings and their expectations of the technological tools in base on the results.

WHICH ASPECTS RELATED TO TEACHERS' CHARACTERISTICS ARE CONSIDERED BY MOST OF THE EFL TEACHERS AS BARRIERS TO USE ICT IN THEIR CLASSROOM?

Table 1. Teachers' characteristics considered by EFL teachers as barriers to use ICT in their classroom.

Nº	STATEMENT	STRONGLY AGREE	AGREE	DISAGREE	STRONGLY DISAGREE	NO ANSWER
		%	%	%	%	%
1	I feel insecure about my ability to use ICT as a resource to teach	15%	5%	45%	35%	0%
2	I do not think I would be able to learn how to use ICT in my classroom.	65%	0%	20%	15%	0%
3	I am afraid that if I begin to use ICT, I will become dependent upon them.	10%	20%	15%	55%	0%
4	I dislike working with machines that are smarter than I am	60%	15%	20%	5%	0%
5	I feel apprehensive about using ICT.	10%	25%	25%	40%	0%
6	I have difficulty in understanding the technical aspects of ICT	10%	20%	15%	55%	0%
7	It scares me to think that I could cause the computer to destroy a large amount of data by hitting the wrong key.	50%	20%	10%	20%	0%
8	I hesitate to use ICT for fear of making mistakes that I cannot correct.	40%	20%	20%	20%	0%
9	You have to be master to understand how to use ICT	10%	10%	40%	40%	0%
10	I have avoided ICT use because they are unfamiliar.	20%	30%	25%	25%	0%
11	I have not attended any ICT training courses	5%	20%	5%	70%	0%
12	I have attended some ICT training courses; however, I prefer not to use ICT because they somewhat intimidate me	10%	5%	40%	45%	0%
13	I am not interested in attending any ICT course	5%	10%	35%	50%	0%
14	I do not how to use any ICT Resource	70%	20%	5%	5%	0%

15	I do not use any ICT resource in class because I think that ICT are not necessary to teach English.	30%	10%	20%	40%	0%
16	I prefer not to use ICT because my teaching experience is the most crucial factor in teaching process.	25%	25%	25%	25%	0%
17	I think that age is factor that determines the ICT use in class	5%	45%	12%	38%	0%
18	In my opinion, younger teachers are more skillful to use ICT than the older ones.	30%	20%	20%	30%	0%

Author: Ángela Cristina López Infante

Source: Ecuadorian high school EFL teachers

In order to interpret this question, it has been identified that 65% of the teachers do not think they would be able to learn how to use ICT in their classroom. They mention that to use technology they firstly need to be provided with the necessary gadgets from their authorities in each institution.

Another thing is that they feel they are not able enough to plan a class with the use of ICT and also their busy schedules do not let them to get a good training.

The teachers who are part of this percentage show some lack of professional characteristics. Therefore, Centro Superior de Formación del Profesorado (2011) indicates that teachers should have cognitive characteristics in order to acquire and apply the knowledge management related to any subject. People who work with human beings cannot pretend to know only the subject they are teaching. It is quite mandatory to be updated about all the current things that are happening now. Technology is not only used for the IT classes, but all the subjects. Teachers have to know how to use at least the basic software. Nobody knows everything. It is the obligation of any good professional to continue to get trained.

Based on the question, 60% of the teachers say that they dislike working with machines that are smarter than they are. Teachers are not confident enough using technology. They feel they

might be embarrassed due to their lack of competence when managing the technological tools well. Therefore, they prefer not using them. Centro Superior de Formación del Profesorado (2011) also expresses that teachers should be open minded to previous and new knowledge. Any person who has not gotten enough training on a specific area will definitely feel anxious and very insecure. In the past, most teachers just used a textbook and the board to teach, but now it has completely changed. There are hundreds of things teachers can experience just by using Internet. Everybody has to adapt to the cultural, academic and social needs.

Regarding to the question above, 70% of the teachers do not know how to use any ICT resource. This problem has been more evident in the public high school. There, teachers are always waiting for the government to give them all the things they are going to use in class, especially the technological ones. Teachers recognize that they sometimes do not think about the results they get from their students when continuing teaching in the traditional way. Also, they mentioned in the interviews that they have not analyzed how good their classes are. However, teachers could use their personal gadgets if they had the interest in transforming schools into real learning center. This is one of the characteristics that Burgos et al. (2013) proposes.

Taking the question into account, 45% of teachers think that age is a factor that determines the ICT use in class. They have said that most of the people that use technology are teenagers. They think that the older you are the less you use technological gadget. Besides, they indicated in the interviews that because they are grown up they have many responsibilities and a lot of personal issues to care of. These features are framed on the educational characteristics.

Therefore, Severin (2013) points out: "The role of teachers is fundamental because they are the first promoters of this new educational paradigm from the implementation of renewed educational practices." (p.35). Everybody is always learning since the day they were born until they die. No matter the age, every teacher ought to be updated on the latest trends in any aspects that are connected to educational changes.

According to the question, 30% of teachers have avoided ICT use because they are unfamiliar. The percentage does not show that this is not an important problem. However, in the interviews, teachers say that this is one of the biggest problems they have. Some of them learned how to use a computer when they were at university and now they feel confident only using their desk computer. They also said that the software they used at that time was quite different from the one which is used now. They had bad experiences when using technology due to the long list of things they had to study and memorize before using a computer. For instance, they had to remember what were the formulas to accede, the codes for specific punctuation marks or letters and many other things. Nowadays, everything can be done just with a click, but if teachers do not get updated, they are not going to learn how it really works. The teachers say that they have not even finished learning how to use their old machines and they cannot imagine using laptops, tables etc. that everybody is using these days.

That's the reason why they feel not confident enough when using any technological gadget. Jimoyiannis (2012) proposes that the use of the ICT can help teachers to develop their own personal characteristics: self- confidence, sincerity and an open mindedness. Thus, it only depends on the teacher to overcome this barrier.

WHICH FACTOR REGARDING TO TEACHERS' CHARACTERISTICS DOES INFLUENCE THE MOST ON TEACHERS TO USE ICT IN THEIR CLASSROOM?

Table 2. Teachers' characteristics that influence the most on teachers to use ICT in their classroom

Nº	STATEMENT	STRONGLY AGREE	AGREE	DISAGREE	STRONGLY DISAGREE	NO ANWER
		%	%	%	%	%
1	The challenge of learning about ICT use is exciting.	35%	40%	20%	5%	0%
2	I am confident that I can learn technological skills.	30%	30%	10%	30%	0%
3	I feel motivated to use ICT in my class.	45%	40%	15%	0%	0%
4	Learning to use ICT is like learning any new skill – the more you practice, the better you become.	45%	40%	10%	5%	0%
5	I am sure that with time and practice I will be as comfortable working with ICT.	50 %	35%	15%	0%	0%
6	I feel that I will be able to keep up with the advances happening in the ICT field.	50%	30%	20%	0%	0%
7	If given the opportunity, I would like to learn about use ICT.	65%	15 %	10%	10%	0%
8	I think that ICT are necessary tools in educational settings.	45%	35%	15%	5%	0%
9	I like to use ICT because they help me to innovate my teaching methodology.	40%	40%	15%	5%	0%
10	ICT help me to motivate my students to learn English.	50%	35%	15%	0%	0%
11	If I had any technical problem with ICT during my class, I would continue doing the planned activities.	65%	25%	5%	5%	0%
12	When I have any technical problem with ICT, I do not feel frustrated.	15%	20%	55%	10%	0%
13	Age is not an obstacle to learn about and use ICT in my classes.	40%	40%	15%	5%	0%

14	I know a lot about ICT use because I have attended some ICT training courses	15%	55%	15%	15%	0%
15	I have learned to use ICT resources by myself	60%	15%	20%	10%	0%
16	I think ICT has a positive impact on teaching process	15%	60%	15%	10%	0%
17	ICT use has more advantages than disadvantages in EFL teaching	55%	30%	10%	5%	0%

Author: Ángela Cristina López Infante Source: Ecuadorian high school EFL teachers

Based on the questions it has been detected that 65% of the teachers said that if they were given the opportunity, they would like to learn about and use ICT. A large group of teachers said that they want their high school to give them all the facilities to take these type of courses where they will learn more about the technological tools. In addition, they would like to acquire more knowledge about new approaches, methods and techniques of how to implement the use of ICT in their daily teaching.

The teacher's desires are supported by Tascón (2013), who mentions that teachers must be active, reasonable and skillful. Also, they should have a positive attitude which influences the use of ICT and the teaching- learning flows. It is well known that any individual needs not only to have the knowledge but also put it into practice to get the expected results. As it was expressed before in the results of the previous chart, only when teachers face their fears and are open to learn new things in order to change their bad experiences; they will be able to change the way they teach and of course the way their students learn.

According to the question, 65% of teachers indicated that if they had any technical problem with ICT during their class, they would continue doing the planned activities. According to this statement, teachers said that they feel a little afraid of having any technical problem because they do not feel they know everything about technology. However, they emphasized that for example if they were presenting a video in class and something happened with it, they would continue with another activity related to it easily because they always have a plan B when

planning. Their experience will undoubtedly help them to control and solve any bad situation.

The same author, Tascón (2013), reinforces this thought when saying that dynamic, rational and competent teachers will be able to stand out successfully. Even though most of the teachers who are part of this research said they do not have enough experience using ICT, they would ask one of their pupils to help. Of course, there are a few teachers that would never do it. This definitely must be changed.

Taking the question into account, 60% of teachers think ICT has a positive impact on teaching process. Based on this percentage it could be said that only small groups of teachers think that the use of ICT does not contribute to the teaching- learning process in a constructive way. The interviewed teachers expressed that most of their students are keen on learning with the use of technology. Thus, they feel engaged and motivated when the teacher includes in their planning any technological tool. They may help students develop some skills in an easier and faster way.

Confirm this, Aguerrondo (2011) highlights that while teachers are giving lessons, they will develop the ability to establish a pleasant learning environment, integrate the ICT, use new techniques, promote dynamic classes and increase the cooperative and collaborative interaction and team work.

Based on the question above, 55% of teachers said that they do not know a lot about ICT use because they have not attended almost any ICT training courses. Most teachers said that they have not gotten enough knowledge of how to use technological gadget well, since they have not acquired the necessary data from experts. Also, they mentioned that the courses related to these topics are quite expensive and sometimes they cannot afford to pay. Besides, some of them think it is not very useful to be trained about this subject.

Therefore, it is important to emphasize the professional characteristics that good teachers should have.

Thus, The Centro Superior de Formación del Profesorado (2011) express that teachers ought to have cognitive characteristics in order to acquire and apply the knowledge

management related to any subject. This knowledge has to be integrated to what is being taught in class.

Nowadays, it is vital to use the ICT when teaching not only a new language, but also any topic that could help students keep up with this changeable world.

HOW IS ICT USE PERCEIVED BY EFL TEACHERS IN RELATION TO THEIR GENDER?

Table 3.Teachers perceptions by gender in relations to the aspects that they considered as barriers to use ICT in their classroom.

NO	CTATEMENT		NGLY REE	AGI	REE	DISA	GREE		NGLY GREE		O WER
Nº	STATEMENT	М	F	M	F	М	F	M	F	М	F
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
1	I feel insecure about my ability to use ICT as a resource to teach	10%	50%	10%	40%	20%	5%	60%	5%	0%	0%
2	I do not think I would be able to learn how to use ICT in my classroom.	10%	60%	20%	20%	20%	10%	50%	10%	0%	0%
3	I am afraid that if I begin to use ICT, I will become dependent upon them.	10%	40%	20%	10%	20%	30%	50%	20%	0%	0%
4	I dislike working with machines that are smarter than I am	5%	50%	15%	40%	20%	5%	60%	5%	0%	0%
5	I feel apprehensive about using ICT.	5%	10%	35%	20%	25%	20%	35%	50%	0%	0%
6	I have difficulty in understanding the technical aspects of ICT	15%	55%	30%	15%	15%	20%	40%	10%	0%	0%
7	It scares me to think that I could cause the computer to destroy a large amount of data by hitting the wrong key.	5%	60%	20%	20%	30%	10%	45%	10%	0%	0%
8	I hesitate to use ICT for fear of making mistakes that I cannot correct.	5%	60%	0%	10%	5%	10%	90%	20%	0%	0%
9	You have to be master to understand how to use ICT	10%	10%	10%	5%	80%	20%	0%	65%	0%	0%
10	I have avoided ICT use because they are unfamiliar.	5%	60%	30%	20%	15%	10%	50%	10%	0%	0%
11	I have not attended any ICT training courses	10%	60%	10%	20%	10%	10%	70%	10%	0%	0%
12	I have attended some ICT training courses; however, I prefer not to use ICT because they somewhat intimidate me	5%	60%	0%	10%	5%	10%	90%	20%	0%	0%
13	I am not interested in attending any ICT course	10%	60%	10%	20%	30%	10%	50%	10%	0%	0%
14	I do not how to use any ICT Resource	5%	70%	20%	10%	5%	10%	70%	10%	0%	0%

15	I do not use any ICT resource in class because I think that ICT are not necessary to teach English	5%	40%	5%	20%	35%	20%	55%	20%	0%	0%
16	I prefer not to use ICT because my teaching experience is the most crucial factor in teaching process.	5%	60%	5%	20%	40%	10%	50%	10%	0%	0%
17	I think that age is factor that determines the ICT use in class	15%	60%	15%	20%	20%	10%	50%	10%	0%	0%
18	In my opinion, younger teachers are more skillful to use ICT than the older ones.	20%	70%	10%	20%	30%	5%	40%	5%	0%	0%

Author: Ángela Cristina López Infante

Source: Ecuadorian high school EFL teachers

Regarding the question, 50% of female teachers feel insecure about their ability to use ICT as a resource to teach. With regard to the information obtained from the interview, female teachers are more comfortable when using other resources for example flash cards, extra sheets, charts, posters, etc. This is because they said they haven't been born with the ability to use any kind of machine well. On the other hand, only 10% of the male teachers feel insecure when using technology. There are many reasons why most of them do not think in that way. They tend to read more about it and use technological tools even if they do not know almost anything about it. The male teachers said that they like to take more risks.

To support this idea, Palacios cites Plou (2011) who explains that the opportunities related to the use of technology must be equal for men and women. However, the way women and men have grown; especially in the Latin American, culture has influenced their interest in using the ICT.

55% of female teachers have difficulty in understanding the technical aspects of ICT. Based on the interviews, female teachers mentioned that most of them are mainly theoretical than practical when using technology. They always want to learn everything that was said and written about a specific topic, understand it deeply and then put it into practice. It is well known

that using technological gadgets requires more practice than concepts. In contrast to this, only 15% of male teachers find it difficult to understand the technical aspects of ICT. This is as a result of their curiosity. They do not usually stop and read every single step they have to do in order to use something. They prefer trying things first and see what happens next.

The Centro Superior de Formación del Profesorado (2011) indicates some professional characteristics of teachers when they use the ICT. Teachers should have the ability to look for, to treat, to value, to assimilate, to integrate and to use the information and knowledge. In reference to this, women just look for simple technological tools, but they do not treat, assimilate or integrate their knowledge about ICT; on the contrary, men do.

Taking the question into account, 60% of female teachers said that it scares them to think that they could cause the computer to destroy a large amount of data by clicking the wrong key.

This percentage of female teachers that were interviewed indicated that when they tried to use ICT, they had big trouble. They did something wrong and they did not want to experience such a feeling again. They thought that if that happened when they tried to learn a little about technology it would be worst when using it with their students. As opposed to women, just 5% of male teachers are afraid them to think that they could cause the computer to destroy a large amount of data by clicking the wrong key. The majority enjoy experimenting new things.

Unesco (2016) mentions that a teacher needs to have some special psychological characteristics and male teachers definitely have one of them: They have the ability to try new things.

90% of male teachers strongly disagree with the following statement: I hesitate to use ICT for fear of making mistakes that I cannot correct. Most of them do not worry much about taking risks when using technological tools. On the other hand, 20% of female teachers have this hesitation. Some teachers said in the interviews they don't have good previous knowledge about the use of technology. Therefore, they are always making mistakes all the time. Sometimes they think that those errors can be irreversible. They also said that due to the high

cost of a computer, for example, they feel afraid of damaging it and not having enough money to buy another one.

Coll and Monereo (2011) mention that teachers should have a positive attitude that influences the use of ICT and the teaching- learning flows. This can help not only themselves, but their students as well.

80% of male teachers think that they do not have to be masters to understand how to use ICT. They said that nobody knows everything and that as human beings everyone is making mistakes all the time. They are aware of that if they do not try doing something new they might be stuck and they will not progress. Only when people test something they will learn. On the contrary, 20% of female teachers disagree with this statement. Most of them think that they have to comprehend everything that is related to technology before using it.

To support the male teachers' idea, Severin (2013) points out that "The role of teachers is fundamental because they are the first promoters of this new educational paradigm from the implementation of renewed educational practices." (p.35)

Taking the following question into account, 90% of male teachers strongly disagree with the next idea: I have attended some ICT training courses; however, I prefer not to use ICT because they somewhat intimidate me. As analyzed before, male teachers used ICT even if they did not know much about it. They mentioned that when they received at least basic information about technology they immediately tried to apply it. In contrast to this, 20% of female teachers strongly disagree with the statement above. The rest insists that they feel a little scared when using technology. They think this is something that demands a lot not only some training. The necessity to be updated is constant.

Aguerrondo (2011) illustrates that teachers should apply innovative methodology to improve the teaching- learning process stimulating students to acquire basic knowledge about ICT. Most of the male teachers have this educational characteristic. It is not possible to stimulate others to do something if people do no start with themselves.

To continue with this analysis, a new table will be examined. It will be done based on what the female and male teachers think about specific relevant aspects about their perception in relation to the gender.

HOW IS ICT USE PERCEIVED BY EFL TEACHERS IN RELATION TO THEIR GENDER?

Table 4. Teacher's perceptions by gender in relation to the factors that they consider the most influential to use ICT in their classroom.

NO	OT A TEMPNIT		NGLY REE	AGI	REE	DISA	GREE		NGLY GREE	N ANS	O WER
Nº	STATEMENT	M	F	М	F	М	F	M	F	M	F
		%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%	%
1	The challenge of learning about ICT use is exciting.	60%	15%	30%	15%	5%	20%	5%	50%	0%	0%
2	I am confident that I can learn technological skills.	60%	30%	30%	20%	5%	30%	5%	20%	0%	0%
3	I feel motivated to use ICT in my class.	50%	20%	40%	10%	5%	30%	5%	30%	0%	0%
4	Learning to use ICT is like learning any new skill – the more you practice, the better you become.	50%	15%	30%	30%	10%	30%	10%	25%	0%	0%
5	I am sure that with time and practice I will be as comfortable working with ICT.	50%	20%	15%	60%	15%	10%	20%	10%	0%	0%
6	I feel that I will be able to keep up with the advances happening in the ICT field.	50%	5%	30%	5%	10%	20%	10%	70%	0%	0%
7	If given the opportunity, I would like to learn about and use ICT.	50%	30%	30%	30%	10%	30%	10%	10%	0%	0%
8	I think that ICT are necessary tools in educational settings.	50%	50%	20%	20%	15%	20%	15%	10%	0%	0%
9	I like to use ICT because they help me to innovate my teaching methodology.	50%	10%	30%	5%	10%	5%	10%	80%	0%	0%
10	ICT help me to motivate my students to learn English.	50%	40%	30%	20%	10%	20%	10%	20%	0%	0%
11	If I had any technical problem with ICT during my class, I would continue doing the planned activities.	65%	30%	25%	30%	5%	30%	5%	10%	0%	0%
12	When I have any technical problem with ICT, I do not feel frustrated.	15%	50%	25%	30%	20%	10%	40%	10%	0%	0%
13	Age is not an obstacle to learn about and use ICT in my classes.	50%	30%	40%	30%	5%	20%	5%	20%	0%	0%

14	I know a lot about ICT use because I have attended some ICT training courses	50%	30%	20%	20%	15%	25%	15%	25%	0%	0%
15	I have learned to use ICT resources by myself	60%	5%	20%	0%	10%	5%	10%	90%	0%	0%
16	I think ICT has a positive impact on teaching process	50%	35%	35%	35%	10%	20%	5%	10%	0%	0%

Author: Ángela Cristina López Infante

Source: Ecuadorian high school EFL teachers

Based on the question, 50% of male teacher think that they feel motivated to use ICT in their class. The teachers interviewed mentioned some reasons why they are very interested in using technology in their class. For example, they said that they can get multiple resources on line. They can have as many extra exercises about the topics they are teaching just with a click. Besides, it is something that students are willing to use. They will become active learners, not just consumers.

According to a study done by Cox (2017) students prefer technology because they believe that it makes learning more interesting and funny. Furthermore, these teachers believe that their pupils will be better prepared for the future, this means personally and professionally communicating. As opposed to 20% of female teachers mentioned that they are encouraged to use ICT in their class. Most of them are not motivated. Even though they have a lot of reasons to feel the opposite, they avoid using technological tools in class.

Regarding the question, 50% of male teachers think that learning to use ICT is like learning any new skill – the more you practice, the better you become. These teachers do not find it difficult to use technology. They practice it every day; they are always asking for help not only their colleagues but also their students. In the same way, 15% of female teachers think that learning to use ICT is like learning any new skill – the more you practice, the better you become. However, the majority of the women and a representative group of male teachers expressed the opposite. They said that it is not that spelling a new skill because it is changing

every single minute and they have to be learning and learning all the time. Of course, they agree with the fact that if they do it again and again they will be better. When talking about technology, it is different since it represents to start the ability from zero.

Coll and Monereo (2011) mention that teachers must be active, reasonable and skillful as one of the personal characteristics that a good teacher must possess. The male teachers accomplish this, while the women gender does not.

According to the question, 60% of female teachers agree with the idea they are sure that with time and practice they will be as comfortable working with ICT. They emphasized that they may need a lot of time to feel that way. They also said that they will need to use technology more frequently in their classes, of course after being trained a lot. Otherwise, they see it a little complicated to achieve it. On the other hand, 15% of male teachers agree with the opinion of the female colleagues. The others see it is very easy to incorporate using technology in their classes, no matter if they have received little or no training.

Jimoyiannis (2012) shows that the principal personal characteristics of teachers are: self- confidence, sincerity and an open mindedness. Self-confidence is the principal characteristic that men have thanks the use of ICT.

Taking the following question into account, 70% of female teachers strongly disagree with the following statement: I feel that I will be able to keep up with the advances happening in the ICT field. They said that for them, now it is difficult to get the basic knowledge about technology. For them, it is very difficult almost impossible to be at the same pace that technological tools advance. In contrast to this, only 10% of male teachers are in the same position as female teachers. The rest of the teachers think that it is viable to keep up with the advances occurring in the ICT area. They said that they only need to learn what they are going to apply in their classes and not everything. If this changes, they will have to learn again.

To reinforce this idea, Chin et al. (2017). indicates that when teachers use the ICT they should have cognitive characteristics in order to acquire and apply the knowledge management

related to any subject.

Based on the question, 80% of female teachers strongly disagree with the idea that expresses: I like to use ICT because they help me to innovate my teaching methodology. These teachers indicated through the interviews that they are more comfortable using different techniques and methods that do not include the use of technology. They prefer using other resources for example games, dynamics, chants, posters, flash cards, handouts, board games, role-plays, etc.

As opposed to this, 10% of male teachers strongly disagree with the statement above. Most of them are eager to transform their classes with the use of ICT due to there are several reasons why using these gadgets. For instance, they can include in their teaching: Internet, videos, chats, forums, virtual platforms, blogs etc. The majority of the male teachers agree it but

Burgos et al. (2013) proposes: the use of ICT is required to be well prepared. This will help to: Improve the educational quality by using the ICT to enrich the teaching learning process, use good techniques to guide the students" use of ICT as a tool to access their knowledge around the world and transform schools into real learning centers.

Regarding the question, 90% of the female teachers expresses that they do not agree with the next announcement: I have learned to use ICT resources by myself. These teachers point out through the interviews that they do not learn to use ICT resources by themselves because they have some mistakes when use technological tools during class and they think that for this reason they cannot control class. Another cause is that they have not learned the use of ICT because there are inconsistencies in the educational system, teaching and evaluation and this causes them to back down.

In public and private high schools do not give much importance to the use of ICT and for this reason female teachers prefer to use other traditional techniques that allow them to have the control of the class and feel confident as well.

On the contrary, 10% of male teachers strongly disagree with the statement above. It

represents a low percentage; it was evidence in a small number of teachers of public and private high schools. However, most of them are interested in learning ICT and putting them into practices.

This percentage reflects that very few male teachers of private and public high schools expressed that they have learned to use ICT resources by themselves because nowadays, in education it is important to improve and motivate student teaching by using trendy gadgets. Therefore, they research some programs that help the students to improve their four abilities in English.

According to Woollard (2011) he says that in the past there were more male teachers who used the ICT. This is because they were more curious and well- prepared and also more interested in it. In contrast, women did not use the ICT due to their deficient knowledge. Therefore, it made them less interested in using technology to avoid any problem in their classes.

CONCLUSIONS

Most of the teachers of public and private high schools that were part of this research have created their own barriers and fears about the use of ICT, especially, the female teachers from public and private institutions. Their negative perceptions of the technological tools have made them feel in this way. As a result, they have avoided using them in their classroom. For that reason, they haven't included them as part of their daily plan.

The majority of female teachers who participated in this research use traditional methods and techniques due the fact that they are used to teaching in the same way. Besides, for them, it is quite complicated to change this conventional system because it demands time and money. This especially happens in public high schools where teachers want their authorities to give them all the technological gadgets to work in class.

The lack of training was evident in the group of teachers from the public high school, especially with the female ones. They were not motivated to learn more about the ICT because they consider it not relevant in the teaching - learning process. For them their experience was the most important thing and not the usage of machine in class.

The educational, professional, personal and psychological characteristics that every teacher should have; have not been completely developed since the teachers have not updated themselves about the use of ICT. They have been stuck for ages. Mainly the female teachers have not kept up with the current changeable world.

The male teachers have shown more predispositions to use the ICT and apply their little knowledge about it in the classroom when the teaching- learning process occurs. They evidently take more risks than female teachers. Also, the male ones challenge themselves by experimenting new things because of their curiosity and interest.

One of the most important conclusions that this research shows is that in spite of the negative feelings that the teachers have toward the use of ICT, they want to learn more about it. They want to implement this tool in their educational setting, even taking risks, time and a lot of practice to improve their classes and professional development.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Teachers, principally the female ones, can only change the perception they have about the use of ICT by learning well at least the basic things related to this. They can also destroy these obstacles maintaining a positive attitude and being open minded.

All the teachers, predominantly females ones should be active, creative and propose positive things in order to improve themselves not only personally but also professionally. They do not only have to be waiting for the authorities to do everything. They have to look for their own growth. There are lot of training courses about ICT that teachers can take online for free if they are worried about money and time.

Male and female teachers, especially the second group mentioned, ought to be updated in the use of the basic technological tools. Nowadays, it is important to be at the same pace of the digital era. They have to integrate their knowledge about the subject, their experience and the use of modern technological equipment, especially the Internet that has become a necessary resource to improve the educational strategies.

It is a good idea to get enough information about the teacher's characteristics so that they can evaluate themselves and change their attitude and accomplish with all these features based on the use of ICT inside and outside the classroom. This way they will feel more motivated and their students will like to learn a new language in a different environment provided by the teacher.

The female teachers do not have to be behind the men teachers. They have to demonstrate all their talent and skills. All the teachers no matters if they are women or men have the same capacity to learn and do the same things competently. They should try new things when teaching. ICT is definitely going to help female teachers to do it.

Teachers should be motivated to change themselves, innovate their classes and make their job enjoyable. This way, not only the teachers are going to feel better but also their students are going to be engaged. Teachers also have to organize their schedule and dedicate some time to

get fresh knowledge about the latest methodology, and useful software. At the beginning it can be a little difficult, but everything requires time and effort.

REFERENCES

- Aguerrondo, I. (2012). *Unesco-Complex knowledge and educational competencies*.

 Retrieved from http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/Publications

 /Working_Papers/knowledge_compet_ibewpci_8.pdf
- Al-Mahrooqi, R. Troudi, S. (2014). *Using Technology in Foreign Language Teaching*.

 Retrieved from http://www.cambridgescholars.com/download/sample/61911
- Al-Munawwarah, S. F. (2014). Teachers" perceptions on the use of ICT in Indonesian

 EFL learning context. *English Review: Journal of English Education, 3*(1), 70-80.

 Retrieved from https://journal.uniku.ac.id/index.php/ERJEE/article/viewFile/116/78
- Arias Soto, L. D., Buitrago Escobar, Z. R., & Pineda Báez, C. (2011). ICT in the professional development of EFL teachers: Perceptions and challenges. *Folios*, (33), 25-42.
 - Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.co/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0123-48702011000100002
- Bañon, C. (2012). The role of ICT in the field of ELE teaching. Retrieved from http://cvc.cervantes.es/ensenanza/biblioteca_ele/publicaciones_centros/PDF/rio_2008/ 14 peralta.pdf
- Burgos, A. Ayala, J. Moreno, E. García, D. Torres, R. (2013) Living Educational

 Institutions. Retrieved from

 https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=FD2CAwAAQBAJ&dq=instituciones+educativas
 +vivas&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Bravo-Baumann, H. (2010). Capitalization of Experiences on the Contribution of Livestock

 Projects to Gender Issues. Bern, Switzerland: Agency for Development and

 Cooperation.
- Centro Superior de Formación del Profesorado. (2011). *Model of Professional*Competences of Teachers. Retrieved from

- http://webcache.googleusercontent.com/search?q=cache:http://csfp.centros.educa.jcyl.es/sitio/upload/Modelo_de_Competencias_Profesionales_del_Profesorado_Definitivo_J CyL.pdf
- Chin, H. Zhang, D. Zheng, B. (2017). Preparing Foreign Language Teachers for Next-Generation Education. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=Zmi_DAAAQBAJ&dq=Preparing+Foreign+Language+Teachers+for+Next-Generation+Education&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Coll, C. (2011). Formación del Profesorado Learning and teaching with ICT: expectations, reality and potentialities. Retrieved from http://www.ub.edu/ntae/dcaamtd/Coll_en_Carneiro_Toscano_Diaz_LASTIC2.pdf
- Coll, C. Monereo, C. (2011). *Psicología de la Educación Virtual*. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=DR_kT50zsRsC&dq=psicologia+de+la+educacion n+virtual+cesar+coll+pdf&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Du Toit, J. (2015). Teacher Training and Usage of ICT in Education. Retrieved from http://www.uis.unesco.org/StatisticalCapacityBuilding/Workshop%20Documents/Communication%20workshop%20dox/Paris%202014/ICT-teacher%20training-use_EN.pdf
- Ehlers, D. Schneckenberg, D. (2010). Changing Cultures in Higher Education: Moving

 Ahead to Future Learning. Retrieved from

 https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=3wVLnKClGBsC&dq=competences+characterist
 ic+teacher+when+using+ICT&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Facer, K. Owen, M. (2012). The Potential Role of ICT in Modern Foreign Languages

 Learning 5-19. Retrieved from

 http://admin.futurelab.org.uk/resources/documents/discussion_papers/ICT_in_MFL_Lea

 rning_discpaper.pdf
- Fernández, F. M. (2012). The Key Skills of Teachers of Second and Foreign Lenguages.

 Retrieved from http://cvc.cervantes.es/ensenanza/biblioteca_ele/competencias/

 competencias_profesorado.pdf

- Gokhe, M. (2013). Concepts of Information and Communication Technolog (n. d, IV.1).

 Retrieved from http://www.tscermumbai.in/resources%20_paper_%204

 /IV.1 information and communication technology.pdf
- Hine, P. (2011). UNESCO ICT Competency Framework for Teachers. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0021/002134/213475e.pdf
- Hismanoglu, M. (2012). Prospective EFL Teachers' Perceptions of ICT Integration: A
 Study of Distance Higher Education in Turkey. *Educational Technology & Society*, 15
 (1), 185–196.
 - Retrieved from http://www.ifets.info/journals/15_1/17.pdf
- Hjalmarsson, H. (2014). The Effects of ICT on Affective Factors and Teaching Practices in the EFL and ESL Classroom. Retrieved from https://gupea.ub.gu.se/bitstream/2077/38731/1/gupea_2077_38731_1.pdf
- Jimoyiannis, A. (2012). Research on E-Learning and ICT in Education. Retrieved

 From https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=eO8-BAAAQBAJ&dq=Research+on+e
 Learning+and+ICT+in+Education&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Kryachkov, D.Yastrebova, E. Kravtsova, O. (2015). *The Magic of Innovation*.

 Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=bw3nBwAAQBAJ&dq=

 The+Magic+of+Innovation:+New+Techniques+and+Technologies+in+Teaching+Foreig
 n+Languages&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Mollaei, F. & Riasati, M. (2013). Teachers" perceptions of using technology in teaching EFL. *International Journal of Applied Linguistics and English Literature*, 2(1), 13-22. (Original work published 2013) http://dx.doi.org/10.7575/ijalel.v.2n.1p.13
- Mozafari, P., & Wray, D. (2013). Iranian EFL Teachers' Perspectives on their Use of ICT in their Teaching Practices: A Multiple Case Study. In *EC-TEL Doctoral Consortium* (pp. 57-64).
 - Retrieved from http://ceur-ws.org/Vol-1093/paper9.pdf

- Palacios, L. (2011). *ICT and Gender*. Retrieved from http://www.cepal.org/socinfo/noticias/paginas/0/30390/newsletter16ENG.pdf
- Poole, P. (2001). English. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=RsARnDtu8QkC&dq=definition+ICT+in+english+books&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Severin, E. (2013). *Unesco-Strategic approaches to ICT*. Retrieved from http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0022/002232/223251e.pdf
- Tascón, M. (2013). *Telos 95 Big Data*. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=vRjGCgAAQBAJ
- Unesco. (2016). Habilidades para el progreso social El poder de las habilidades sociales y emocionales.
 - Retrieved from http://www.uis.unesco.org/Library/Documents/ip28-oecdskills%20for%20social%20progress-education-2016-spa.pdf
- Velázquez, R. (2012). The Role of the Teacher in the Application of Technologies for

 Formative Processes. Retrieved from

 http://ilan.com.mx/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/RedILAN.pdf
- Woollard, J. (2011). Learning and Teaching Using ICT. Glasgow. Retrieved from https://books.google.com.ec/books?id=ua2ICwAAQBAJ&dq=GENDER++USING+ICT+ TEACHER&hl=es&source=gbs_navlinks_s
- Yusuf, Y. Q., & Silviyanti, T. M. (2015). EFL teachers "perceptions on using ICT in their teaching: to use or to reject? *Teaching English with Technology*, (4), 29-43. .

 Retrievedfrom http://cejsh.icm.edu.pl/cejsh/element/bwmeta1.element.desklight-3c15caae-9834-4f4c-8a24-ff071e14ba5e/c/ARTICLE3.pdf

ANEXES

Gender:

Years of EFL teaching experience: (



UNIVERSIDAD TÉCNICA PARTICULAR DE LOJA La Universidad Católica de Loja

MODALIDAD ABIERTA Y A DISTANCIA TITULACIÓN DE INGLÉS

M()

TEACHERS' SURVEY

F()

Nº	STATEMENT	STRONGLY AGREE	AGREE	DISAGREE	STRONGLY DISAGREE	NO ANSWER
1	I feel insecure about my ability to use ICT as a resource to teach					
2	I do not think I would be able to learn how to use ICT in my classroom.					
3	I am afraid that if I begin to use ICT, I will become dependent upon them.					
4	I dislike working with machines that are smarter than I am					
5	I feel apprehensive about using ICT.					
6	I have difficulty in understanding the technical aspects of ICT					
7	It scares me to think that I could cause the computer to destroy a large amount of data by hitting the wrong key.					
8	Thesitate to use ICT for fear of making					

	mistakes that I cannot correct.			
9	You have to be master to understand how to use ICT			
10	I have avoided ICT use because they are unfamiliar.			
11	I have not attended any ICT training courses			
12	I have attended some ICT training courses; however, I prefer not to use ICT because they somewhat intimidate me			
13	I am not interested in attending any ICT course			
14	I do not how to use any ICT Resource			
15	I do not use any ICT resource in class because I think that ICT are not necessary to teach English.			
16	I prefer not to use ICT because my teaching experience is the most crucial factor in teaching process.			
17	I think that age is factor that determines the ICT use in class			
18	In my opinion, younger teachers are more skillful to use ICT than the older ones.			

2. For each statement, decide whether you disagree or agree with the statement using the following five - point scale ranging from strongly disagrees to strongly agree.

Nº	STATEMENT	STRONGLY AGREE	AGREE	DISAGREE	STRONGLY DISAGREE	NO ANWER
1	The challenge of learning about ICT use is exciting.					
2	I am confident that I can learn technological skills.					
3	I feel motivated to use ICT in my class.					
4	Learning to use ICT is like learning any new skill – the more you practice, the better you become.					
5	I am sure that with time and					

	practice I will be as comfortable		
	working with ICT.		
	Werning Will 1811		
	I feel that I will be able to keep		
6	up with the advances		
	happening in the ICT field.		
7	If given the opportunity, I would		
	like to learn about use ICT.		
8	I think that ICT are necessary		
	tools in educational settings.		
	I like to use ICT because they		
9	help me to innovate my		
	teaching methodology.		
10	ICT help me to motivate my		
	students to learn English.		
	If I had any technical problem		
11	with ICT during my class, I		
	would continue doing the planned activities.		
	When I have any technical		
12	problem with ICT, I do not feel		
12	frustrated.		
	Age is not an obstacle to learn		
	about and use ICT in my		
13	classes.		
	ciasses.		
	I know a lot about ICT use		
14	because I have attended some		
	ICT training courses		
15	I have learned to use ICT		
15	resources by myself		
	I think ICT has a positive		
16	impact on teaching process		
17	ICT use has more advantages		
	than disadvantages in EFL		
	teaching.		

Thanks for you collaboration



UNIVERSIDAD TÉCNICA PARTICULAR DE LOJA La Universidad Católica de Loja

MODALIDAD ABIERTA Y A DISTANCIA TITULACIÓN DE INGLÉS

TEACHERS' INTERVIEW

Gende	er:		М ()	F	()		
Years	of EFL teachi	ng experience:			_			
1. Do	you think the	use of ICT is	impor	tant to te	ach Eng	lish?		
YES	S()	NO ()						
Wh	y?							
2. Do	you use ICT i	n your Englisl	n clas	ses?				
YES	S()	NO ()						
Wh	y?							
						,		

-	er was affirmative in the previous question, how do you feel (afraid, xed, confident, etc.) when you use ICT? Why?
related to yo	ider that factors such as psychological, personal, etc., which are our characteristics as a teacher, are barriers to use ICT in your classes ssary, use some of the statements in the teachers' survey to explain s)
YES()	NO ()
Why?	
related to your	ider that factors such as psychological, personal, etc., which are characteristics as a teacher, have a positive influence on you to use sses? (If it is necessary, use some of the statements in the teachers' ain these factors)
YES()	NO ()
Why?	

6. Is there a	ny advantage to use ICT in EFL teaching?
YES()	NO ()
Why?	
7. Is there	ny disadvantage to use ICT in EFL teaching?
YES()	NO ()
Why?	
8. Accordii	g to your opinion, who uses more frequently ICT in EFL classes, male eachers?
Male ()	Female ()
Why?	